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To the memory of


the Phantom’s victims


and to their families and friends.


May they always be remembered.




I have arrived in Texarkana, the home of the Phantom Killer. I have met a newspaperman named Graves. I have checked into the Grim Hotel, and the hair is rising on my neck.


—Kenneth Dixon,
International News Service dispatch


The people were panicky. They were really panicky. I had never in my life run into anything like it.


—Texas Ranger Captain M. T.
“Lone Wolf” Gonzaullas





AUTHOR’S NOTE



My personal interest in the Phantom murders, officially unsolved since 1946, traces from boyhood. My uncle, Bill Presley, served as sheriff of Bowie County, Texas, where most of the attacks took place. Later as a teenaged police reporter for the Texarkana Gazette I came to know the investigators, as well as reporters and editors who’d covered the story. Eventually doctoral studies in history enabled me to add perspective to the ravages of a willful domestic terrorist.


The case cried out for a reliable record to preserve the known facts, dig up new ones, and separate the substantive evidence from the spurious and imaginary. This book applies the tools of history to explain how and why the crimes and the panic happened—and seek a solution.


The Texas Department of Public Safety labeled it “the Number One unsolved murder case in Texas history.” That’s a lot of crimes over many decades in a state hardly celebrated for its peacefulness. “As a puzzle,” wrote Dallas columnist Kent Biffle, “the case remains more popular than sudoku, but seemingly uncrackable.” National and regional media continue to revisit the tantalizing case. The Internet, with Wikipedia in the lead, ripples with references. The Learning Channel’s “Ultimate Ten,” on which I appeared, classified it as one of “the most notorious and intriguing unsolved crimes in history,” in a dead heat with Jack the Ripper’s 1888 London rampage. The Ripper killed five women. The Phantom killed five victims, badly injured three others, as he hunted couples at a disadvantage in the dark.


This account offers an antidote for the rumors and distortions caused by time, journalistic excesses, and, on occasion, clumsy police work. With the principal participants dead (most of whom I interviewed at some point in their final years) and documentary evidence fragile and scattered and possibly on the way to being lost forever, this was the last chance to set the record straight and close a popular but vexing old mystery.





THE TOWN



Tucked away in the far northeastern corner of Texas—or southwestern edge of Arkansas, if you prefer—Texarkana mostly goes unnoticed, the abandoned stepchild of both states. Occasionally its geographical anomaly rescues it from oblivion, by attesting to Texas’s size. Such as the hoary anecdote of the salesman whose home office in Chicago orders: “Check on our new customer in Texarkana.” The salesman, based in El Paso, fires back: “Go yourself. You’re closer than I am!” It’s true. Texarkana, spilling over into Arkansas and near the boundaries of Louisiana and Oklahoma, is nearer to Lake Michigan than to its sister city on the Mexican border.


Commonly spoken of as one city, Texarkana actually is a shorthand term for two separate political entities sprawled carelessly astride the state line: Texarkana, Texas, and Texarkana, Arkansas, each with its own mayor, municipal government, police, and firemen. The United States and the Republic of Texas set the boundary in 1841, before there was a Texarkana. East is Arkansas and West is Texas: Numbered streets are preceded by either a W or an E to designate which side of town they’re on. East 16th is in Arkansas, but cross the state line in search of the nearest counterpart and you’ll find West 23rd in Texas. Fitted together like asymmetrical line dancers glued to each other, the cities were, and are, joined physically at the hip, sharing utilities and a chamber of commerce, while periodically behaving like dysfunctional Siamese twins.


In a solidly Southern town, with nearly a third of the population black, the obligatory Confederate memorial features a stone soldier forlornly staring southward. Yet a cosmopolitan mix of ethnic groups—Irish, Italian, German, Jewish, Greek, and French—not found in most Southern towns its size, by the 1920s supplemented the predominant English and Scotch-Irish Caucasian stock. Baptists and Methodists led in numbers, with Catholics a significant minority, and with one Jewish temple.


Duality has characterized—or plagued—Texarkana from its founding in 1873, in the waning days of Reconstruction. Each side of town had its own separate post office until 1892, when the first joint one was built on its present site on the state line. That one was razed in 1930. Three years later the present one was built, combining Texas pink granite and Arkansas limestone in its materials. The state line defined even religious jurisdictions. The city’s two Catholic parishes—Sacred Heart in Texas, St. Edward in Arkansas—were in different dioceses, Dallas and Little Rock. Protestant denominations experienced similar realities. Crosstown rivalries flourished. The annual football game between Texas High’s Tigers and Arkansas High’s Razorbacks often included fistfights in the stands. One photo promoting the city portrayed a pair of young twins with boxing gloves confronting each other. The most popular symbol of duality, though, was a postcard that depicted a man on the Texas side clutching a rope tied to a donkey on the other side of the state line. In the background the massive United States Courthouse and Post Office, billed as the only one in America situated in two states, imposingly straddles State Line Avenue. The postcard’s caption signified, perhaps humorously, perhaps not, a potential for friction.


A MAN IN TEXAS AND HIS ASS IN ARKANSAS


To balance things out, a competing card placed a Biblical ass in Texas.


In the nineteenth century the timber industry flourished in both states with an abundant supply of pine and hardwood, creating jobs, albeit often dangerous ones, and a number of local fortunes. Texarkana’s location made it a natural railroad center as lines crossed from almost every direction en route to either coast. The town became known as “that lively railroad village” festooned with saloons and bawdy houses and rampant with crime. “Texarkana is the gateway between the East and Texas, and the half-way house, where burglars, thieves and robbers stop momentarily to recuperate,” commented one early observer.


The most horrifying tragedy of those days occurred on a July night in 1882. A violent storm drove dozens inside the Paragon Saloon and gambling house for refuge. Lightning struck the building next door, under construction, and strong winds blew a wall onto the saloon, shattering timbers, knocking over kerosene lamps. A fierce fire broke out, compounding the plight of those trapped beneath the rubble. At least forty men perished. One, pinned painfully and hopelessly, ended his agony with a gunshot to his own head.


With its location “a veritable magnet for the criminally inclined,” an early editor charged, “the great majority of Texarkana’s early settlers were gamblers, gunmen and other lawless individuals who flocked into towns where law enforcement was weak.” By 1888, by one accounting, the fledgling city boasted twenty-three saloons, eighteen of them on Broad Street, with flashy names like Cosmopolitan, Hole-in-the-Wall, Gateway, Triangle, Golden Star, and Red River. Over the years the city—or cities—grew out of its frontier roughness but never shook off the image entirely. Open saloons and gambling dens vanished in time; brothels continued to flourish. Organized prostitution persisted well beyond World War II.


Texarkana has since remained a crossroads. Four major highways intersect in the town today. In the 1940s, four rail lines provided passenger service, which was on par for a city several times Texarkana’s size. American and Mid-Continent Airlines each offered two flights daily. American’s DC-3s landed and departed from either coast; Mid-Continent flew north and south. Buses and automobiles brought in people of all descriptions and statuses. A large sign above U.S. Highway 67, a major artery connecting Dallas and Little Rock, proclaimed the city to be the “Gateway to the Southwest.” Texarkana, as the unofficial capital of this Four States Area, became a stopover for national travelers, as well as a regional hub for commerce—and for crime. Law enforcement grew knottier, as criminals crossed state lines to avoid arrest.


Intensifying Texarkana’s crossroads status, World War II jerked the region out of the Great Depression. Red River Ordnance Depot, later elevated to Arsenal status, and Lone Star Army Ammunition Plant nearly doubled the population. Workers and their families swarmed in from all points, as far off as Illinois and Michigan. The economy boomed. So did the work of the police.


A duality of both dark and light emerged. Old-timers remembered an idyllic small town where everyone knew everybody else and enjoyed a sense of community and a pleasant life—unless, perhaps, you were black or poor. They’d cite a long roster of men and women who came from their town to achieve fame or fortune: Byron Nelson the legendary golfer; politicians Wright Patman, longtime chairman of the House Banking and Currency Committee, and Morris Sheppard (Senate tenure, 1913-1941), to name a few.


Undismayed by negative distractions, the business sector’s ingrained booster spirit burst forth most forcibly in the 1940s with an Old West do-or-die slogan emblazoned on city buses: Pull for Texarkana or Pull Out.


It didn’t work. True to the town’s dual nature, denizens of a darker side continued, in counterpoint, to scar its sunny face, neither pulling for nor pulling out.


The nether side was almost never completely out of view. One observer reported the most frequent datelines in the Police Gazette to be Peoria, Illinois, and Texarkana. Some occasionally referred to their hometown as Little Chicago. As a lawman of the time, Max Tackett, put it, Texarkana was “calloused to murder.”


Selected headlines from the 1940s seem to bear out Tackett’s contention. The gruesome Arkansas-side murder of Gertrude Hutchinson O’Dwyer on July 24, 1940, was one of the most shocking: her head smashed by a car axle, her throat slit from ear to ear, her bed soaked with blood. The case remains unsolved.


The next year a sixteen-year-old boy, on parole for a shotgun killing in Alabama four years earlier, fatally slugged a younger boy with a pop bottle in Fouke, Arkansas, about ten miles from Texarkana.


A rigidly segregated Southern city, Texarkana’s last recorded lynching had occurred on July 13, 1942, about seven months into World War II. The chain of events began near the little town of Hooks, a dozen miles west of Texarkana and next door to the defense plants. An intruder dragged a twenty-two-year-old white woman, asleep with her baby at her side while her husband worked a night shift, from her trailer home. She broke free and escaped. He fled. She identified him only as a black man. A group of white men—none a police officer—started looking for suspects. At a café they tried to arrest Willie Vinson, thirty-one years old, who was visiting from Louisiana. He refused to go with them. One of the men shot him in the abdomen. Vinson was taken to the hospital. The woman never positively identified Vinson or any other man. Vinson languished near death. Around midnight Sunday several white men wrenched a groaning Vinson, begging for his life, from his unguarded hospital bed. They dragged him by car through the streets and hanged his corpse at a cotton compress a mile away. Relegating the global war to lesser headlines, the Texarkana Gazette thundered forth with a bold, all-capitals 8-column banner:


NEGRO LYNCHED BY MOB HERE


The case made national news. Racial tensions rose exponentially; rumors flew. The FBI entered the case. No arrests were made, no culprits named, no charges filed.


Months later, on the Arkansas side, a war-plant worker, H. H. Hasselberg, was shot and left for dead. Before he died he named Curtis Lee Jones, nineteen, as the man who had shot him. Jones, on probation for car theft, fled. Arrested in Houston and returned to Texarkana, he jumped bail and escaped to Mexico. Extradited, he pleaded guilty to avoid a death sentence and received life in the penitentiary. It was not the end of his criminal career; he ended up with a long rap sheet. After his early release, he continued to add to his record.


On December 9, 1944, Walker L. Curtner, age thirty, a used-car salesman, was found shot in the head and dying in a Texas-side street. He’d been robbed of $1300 in cash. The year ended with no break in the mystery. With the case his top priority, the new Bowie County sheriff, Bill Presley, and Texarkana police chief Jack Runnels posted a hefty reward and received a tip leading to the arrest and conviction of Guy Brantley, an escaped convict. Assessed a life sentence, he later died in prison.


The Japanese surrender brought no end to violence in Texarkana. On October 20, 1945, Ernest F. Bryers, an overseas Army veteran discharged two days earlier in Oklahoma, was found dead, almost decapitated, in a pool of blood near downtown on the Texas side. He’d had a brief layover en route home to Louisiana. Subsequently Jarvis Andrew Elliott, twenty-three, and Vera Jackson, seventeen, confessed to the grisly murder, claiming Bryers had resisted their robbery, leading to the killing. Elliott, a black man, was sentenced to the electric chair; his teen-aged confederate, life in prison.


Holdups, cuttings, burglaries also vied for headlines. At the edges of four states, Texarkana lay in the direct path of traffickers in illicit goods. Scofflaws ran whiskey from wet Louisiana to dry Oklahoma through the area. Specially rigged automobiles carried from fifty to seventy cases of liquor; a stake-bed truck, a hundred. High-speed chases, at times in town and accompanied by gunfire, might register as high as ninety miles per hour. It was a lively atmosphere, during a lively time.


The old year 1945 went out—literally—with a bang. In a shootout at nearby Fulton, Arkansas, the day before New Year’s Eve, Arkansas State Policemen Charley Boyd and Max Tackett, both war veterans back at their old jobs, returned fire from James W. Moore, a thirty-five-year-old ex-convict from Missouri, fatally wounding him.


An ominous foreshadowing, with sequel over the next several weeks of the new year 1946: a $485 holdup of a liquor store in Arkansas (the only side with legal liquor sales), shootings, the sentencing of three men for robbery with firearms, a war veteran’s fatal blow with a hammer to an adversary’s head in an alcohol-fueled fracas, a gunshot suicide, a fatal knife fight, a string of burglaries and thefts netting from five dollars to as much as seven hundred. One Texas-side pistol-backed holdup yielded only thirty-eight dollars. Clothing, radios, jewelry, vehicles, saddles and horses—nothing was off limits to thieves. Highway crashes snuffed out two lives and injured others.


The unexpected kept cropping up. Weeks after New Year’s, three inches of snow covered Texarkana, which was extremely rare. Even more unusual, a rabid dog meandered about Pleasant Grove, a rural community north of town. Hydrophobic dogs came and went, but mostly in the heat of summer, hardly ever in the midst of winter.


The two anomalies soon faded from memory. The snow melted. The weather grew cooperative. Fears of a roving mad dog evaporated. The war was over.


What could happen next?
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CHAPTER 1



STRANGER IN THE DARK


When they met in February, 1946, tall, bespectacled Jimmy Hollis and petite, brunette Mary Jeanne Larey were married, but not to each other. He was twenty-five; she, nineteen. Each was in the process of dissolving a wartime marriage that hadn’t worked out. While awaiting their final divorce decrees, they felt free to date, and did. Their lives, like the rest of the town and the world, were in flux.


Jimmy and Mary Jeanne may have been scarcely aware of how unsettled and unruly the times were. The evidence, however, lay on every hand. In twin-city Texarkana (pop. 52,393) crime tormented both sides of the Texas-Arkansas line. The unexpected had become so common as to lose its ability to surprise.


Hollis, captivated by Mary Jeanne’s striking good looks, asked her out for the evening of Friday, February 22. He arranged a double date for them with his younger brother Bob and a girl to whom he’d introduced Bob, Virginia Lorraine Fairchild. Bob, on the shy side, benefitted from Jimmy’s gift of gab.


With the war a fresh memory, people avidly flocked to a broad range of entertainment. Wrestling at the Arkansas Armory featured headliners like the Purple Phantom, whose mask would come off only at his defeat. But movies were the main draw.


Jimmy Hollis chose Warner’s freshly minted Three Strangers at the classy Paramount theater. A trip to the Paramount was almost a formal event, the men wearing coats and ties, the women in high heels and their best dresses, sometimes even gloves. The best place in town, for a fifty-cent admission fee. Unlike the other “white” theaters, the Paramount featured a “Colored” entrance at the side, next to an alley, that led up to a segregated portion of the balcony.


Three Strangers, a black-and-white film billed as “a masterpiece of suspense,” was one of Geraldine Fitzgerald’s earlier movies, with heavies Sidney Greenstreet and Peter Lorre. It had its moments, but not many. Set in London in the spring of 1938, the film climaxes when a desperate Greenstreet viciously slams Miss Fitzgerald over the head with a brass Chinese idol, killing her. Not exactly a happy ending.


About a quarter after ten the couples left the theater. Jimmy Hollis, driving an old-model gray Chevrolet, took them to a drive-in café where they sipped soft drinks and chatted. Then he drove Bob and his date home. It was a long drive from there to the little town of Hooks, in Texas, where Mary Jeanne lived.


Texarkana was small. You could drive across town in a matter of minutes. By eleven, less than an hour after leaving the theater, Jimmy and Mary Jeanne drove onto New Boston Road on the Texas side, which would take them to Highway 82 and west to Hooks. First he detoured to graveled Richmond Road, north of town. They were “young and frivolous,” as Jimmy was to put it; they followed Richmond Road about a hundred yards past the last row of city houses and turned off onto a dirt lane and parked. They were near the rural Pleasant Grove community, scene of the mad dog scare the previous month. By that time of night, traffic was sparse. All was quiet and peaceful.


Earlier there had been a light drizzle with some fog. It was pleasantly cool, in the upper sixties, with a slight breeze. The moon was nearing the last quarter and wouldn’t be rising for more than an hour.


They were in pitch-black darkness as they chatted and Hollis, always an easy conversationalist, told a few jokes. Fancying himself a bit of a crooner, he drew on his experience with a dance band in Fort Worth and began singing to Mary Jeanne. It was a romantic interlude for both. Utter privacy. Whatever might be said of Texarkana, its lovers’ lanes were secluded, peaceful, quiet, and safe, a commonly accepted lure to the young set.


For some reason Hollis never could explain later, to himself or anyone else, he impulsively got out of the car and studied the dark sky, searching for stars.


As he stood in the unpaved lane in the dark, suddenly a powerful flashlight’s beam switched on, seemingly out of nowhere, about twenty feet away, and focused in his eyes, blinding him. From around the halo of light he saw what appeared to be a pistol barrel aimed his way, backed up by a rough voice barking orders in a mean tone. Judging from the voice and level of the flashlight, Hollis assessed the man as tall and fairly young. Who was he? What did he want?


“Take off your fucking pants!” the gruff voice ordered.


Hollis, partially in shock, partially in denial, couldn’t fathom what was going on. He knew the man was holding a gun on him. He could tell by the orders that the man was uncouth, to put it mildly, and intended to have his way. His mind groped for a reasonable explanation. This must be some kind of strange game, he told himself. A prankster had mistakenly zeroed in on him.


Hollis, startled, knew he had never heard the voice before. “Fellow, you’ve got me mixed up with someone else. You’ve got the wrong man.”


Hollis’s words drove the man, now moving closer, into a spasm of anger.


“I don’t want to kill you, fellow,” the man spat the words back. “So you better do what I tell you! Take off your goddamned pants. Now!”


The second command shook Hollis out of any residual denial or confusion. There was no joke behind the man’s snarled words. Incongruously Hollis ran a question over and over in his mind: What would Dick Tracy do now? Even as he thought it, he realized the comic-strip detective would have found himself just as helpless in a situation like this.


From inside the car he heard Mary Jeanne, pleading. “Jimmy, please take them off,” she said, thinking that might keep them from being harmed.


Hollis had no choice. He loosened his belt, lowered his trousers, and eased out of them, one leg almost snagging as he tried to keep from falling. Then the intruder moved closer and slammed Hollis viciously on the head with a heavy blunt object like an iron pipe or pistol’s barrel, once—whock!—then a second time—whock! The force knocked his glasses off. He crumpled to the ground. The man kicked him, hard. Hollis could feel metal cleats in the man’s shoes or boots stomping his chest. Then the stranger struck Hollis again on the head as he lay on the ground.


Mary Jeanne thought Hollis had been shot. She was mistaken. She’d heard his skull cracking.


With Hollis disabled on the ground, the assailant turned his attention to the petite teenager. She got out of the car. She leaned over to pick up Hollis’s trousers and took out his billfold, showing it to the assailant.


“Look,” she said, “he doesn’t have any money.”


“You’re lying!” the man shouted.


“No, look. You can see.”


He bent over to where Hollis lay and searched his trousers.


He turned to her. “Where’s your purse?”


“I don’t have one,” she said weakly.


Angered, he hit her on the head. It felt like an iron pipe. She fell to the ground.


Somehow she managed to get up.


“Take off!” the man growled. “Run!”


She tried to obey. She headed for a nearby ditch.


“Not that way!” he shouted. “Go up the road.”


She was wearing high-heeled shoes. She did the best she could. She could hear Hollis, still on the ground, groaning. The thug turned his attention back to Hollis, beating and stomping him. As she ran she could hear the thud of the blows and could hear Hollis’s groans. Terrified, she blindly ran down the road. At times stumbling, she dashed off wildly. Would he let her escape, or was he going to shoot her? In the dark she ran and ran, despite her high heels, as if her life depended on every step.


She came upon an old model car parked by the side of the road. It faced toward Hollis’s car. Someone to help me! She stopped momentarily and glanced inside. She saw no one. Her brief hope evaporated. In her panic, she didn’t realize it may have been the stranger’s car, parked unnoticed with the lights off before he stalked them.


Then, suddenly, as if the gunman had decided to turn the bizarre aggression into a sport, he took off and chased her down the isolated road. She could hear his footsteps thudding on the dirt road. Just after she’d passed the old car, he caught up with her.


“What the hell are you running for?” he demanded.


“You told me to run,” she answered in a trembling voice.


“You’re a goddamned liar!” he yelled back at her.


In that moment she knew he was going to kill her. Fear and anticipation paralyzed her. She stopped in her tracks. She was so frightened, she couldn’t move. She could think of nothing she could do. It was the end.


He then slammed her—harder than before—with the blunt object, opening a wound on her scalp. She dropped to the ground again.


Then the game changed. Helpless on the ground, she felt a violent tug at her panties and then the sudden intrusion of a metallic object like a pistol muzzle. She cried out in excruciating pain. She feared it would never end. Yet he didn’t try to rape her.


Somehow, and she never was able to remember afterward how she did it, she rose unsteadily to her feet.


The abuse was so painful, so humiliating that, once on her feet and knowing she didn’t want him to ever touch her again, she begged him, “Go ahead and kill me!”


She remembered little of the scene after that. She believed he intended to force her into his car and later kill her. Then suddenly he turned and left her in the middle of the road. Days later she decided the headlights of a car had frightened him away.


As soon as the man was gone, Mary Jeanne ran pell-mell, despite her high heels, to sound the alarm. She kept thinking, I’ve got to get help for Jimmy!


She ran to the first house she saw on Richmond Road.


“Help me! Help me!” she screamed as she pounded on the front door.


Just then a car came along. She yelled for it to stop. It cruised on past.


Frantic, she ran to the back of the house, shouted and pounded on the door. A man came to the door.


“Call the police!” she said. She explained what had happened. The man immediately called the sheriff’s office.


Meanwhile Hollis, taking advantage of the gunman’s momentary absence, had regained consciousness and faced the most horrible moment of his life. He instantly remembered what had happened. Where is the guy? he thought. If he sees me move he’ll finish killing me. Nearly blind and helpless, he tried to clear his foggy mind enough to decide what to do, what he could do. Blood oozed from his head wounds, down his face and into his eyes. His trousers were gone, back in the road somewhere. He was clad only in underwear from the waist down. His glasses were in the dirt somewhere. Through his hazy and impaired eyesight he saw car lights on Richmond Road. He concentrated on making his way to Richmond Road to find help from a passing motorist. He rubbed the congealed blood from his eyes. He groggily rose to his feet and stumbled toward the graveled road. He fell back to the ground but crawled on. He saw a car’s lights. He flagged it down. The car eased to a halt and pulled up.


Reflexively Hollis experienced a new fear. Is the guy behind the wheel the one who tried to kill me? Will he finish me off? Then his more immediate needs took over. He had no choice but to seek help.


“I’ve got to see a doctor,” said Hollis. “I’m hurt bad. Take me to the hospital.”


A man and a woman were in the car, the man driving. Hollis, knowing he had to have medical care fast, tried to open the door of the sedan and crawl into the back seat.


“Don’t do that,” the driver shouted. “You’ll get blood in my car!”


What is wrong with him? Hollis thought. What is he thinking? Here I am dying, and he refuses to help, afraid of getting a little blood on his back seat. The man’s actions added to Hollis’s confusion.


“I’ll call an ambulance for you, soon as I can get to a telephone,” the motorist promised. He didn’t have to. Presently, with Hollis leaning on the car, a siren going full blast rent the air. An ambulance pulled up. Its driver rushed to Hollis. Immediately afterward a city policeman, with siren screaming, arrived. Hollis, barely conscious, stumbled toward the ambulance. The policeman stopped to talk to the motorist. It was the last Hollis saw of the man.


Minutes later the ambulance whisked Hollis to Texarkana Hospital, a few blocks from downtown. Mary Jeanne, seeing the ambulance coming, hurried from the house, in time to ride with the policeman to the hospital.


Groggy, semiconscious, Hollis’s mind raced. Why had the motorist acted so strangely? Had he seen anything that might help identify the attacker? Or had the motorist been his assailant? His sense of time was deranged. He didn’t even know if the man in the car could have even been the criminal.


Afterward Hollis would learn that the police tried to locate the man in the car but never could. Hollis’s mind returned to the slight possibility that the motorist had been his assailant and had narrowly escaped from the police by spinning a fictitious identity. But how could he explain the woman in the car with him, who had said nothing at all? Didn’t even gasp at the sight of such a brutally beaten person. One thing made as much sense as another.


In his confusion and pain, it was understandable that Hollis failed to accept a perfectly logical explanation: Who was likely to let a stumbling, bleeding stranger in his underwear into his car, particularly in a place with Texarkana’s reputation? Even if the cautious driver had been willing, it’s doubtful that his female companion would have wanted a stranger in the car.


Once in the ambulance, Hollis obsessively recited to the attendant his name, address, and where his brother Bob could be reached, over and over again. His trousers and wallet were gone. He had no identification. He was afraid no one would know who he was if he died.


Though it seemed like an eternity to the two victims, the entire action in the dark had taken not more than ten minutes. Likely, no more than five to eight minutes.


Long after both victims had arrived at the hospital, a fading moon—a day away from the last quarter—began almost tentatively to peek faintly beyond the tree line to the east. It would take a while for it to cast any light.


The mass movement of people during World War II is the simplest way to explain why Jimmy Hollis and Mary Jeanne Larey met in Texarkana in 1946.


James Mack Hollis was born in 1920, in little Dubach in northern Louisiana, a short drive from the Arkansas line. Months after his birth, his parents moved to El Dorado, Arkansas, to open a general store and restaurant and profit from the huge oil discovery. It was a typical rough-and-ready boomtown. The elder Hollis ran the store; his wife cooked for the restaurant. Jimmy, his two brothers, and two sisters grew up in El Dorado.


Later Hollis and his parents moved to California for a while, where he attended high school and obtained his Social Security card. When the war came, he hurried to join the Navy but failed the physical examination because of a congenital heart defect. He opted for the next best, a job in aircraft manufacturing at Fort Worth, Texas. On the side he sang in a dance band. It was during this time that he met and married his first wife, Dora Louise Nichols. Hollis took her to El Dorado where, in December 1942, they married. He was twenty-two; she, nineteen. As the war wound down, so did their marriage. In January 1946 they separated for good. Hollis left Fort Worth. He went first to Texarkana, where his two brothers lived, and then on to El Dorado where he filed for divorce.


El Dorado was several hours east of Texarkana on Highway 82. Hollis’s older brother Edmond managed the Texarkana office of the Reliable Life Insurance Company. Reliable Life was a debit insurance company that collected premiums on a door-to-door basis. Edmond pointed out that their younger brother Robert Jr., recently returned from Europe, was already working for the company in Texarkana. Why didn’t Jimmy, by then at loose ends, also join the Reliable Life team? It made sense. He moved in with Bob in an apartment on the Arkansas side. Texarkana was a good way-station.


Mary Jeanne Harris was born in Tishomingo, Oklahoma, in 1927. When the war boom came, her father took his family to Texarkana, finding a job at Red River Ordnance Depot. As government housing became available closer to work the family moved to East Hooks Courts, a short distance from the gate to the defense plant. Mary Jeanne enrolled at Hooks High School.


Mary Jeanne, a lovely dark-eyed brunette with a fraction of Indian blood, met Roland L. “Stretch” Larey, eighteen, in Texarkana and married him in the Miller County Courthouse, on the Arkansas side, in 1943. His father, local attorney Clyde Larey, signed as security on the marriage license bond, required by Arkansas law. Mary Jeanne listed her birthday as January 11, 1925, which made her, for the record, eighteen and old enough to marry without parental permission.


Actually, she was sixteen; she’d bumped her age up by two years.


The marriage was brief. Larey went into the Navy. By time he returned from the war, the marriage had deteriorated. Larey left for college in Arkadelphia, Arkansas, eighty miles from Texarkana. She remained in Hooks, living with her parents; by the end of 1945 their separation was permanent.


An uncontested divorce suited both parties. Larey filed; Mary Jeanne waived her appearance in court. They had no children and no community property. She signed the waiver in January 1946, two days before her true nineteenth birthday—in Harlingen, Texas, where she was visiting a friend in the service as the wartime airfield there was shutting down.


After she returned to Hooks, she met Jimmy Hollis, recovering from his own unhappy marriage.





CHAPTER 2



CONFLICTING PERCEPTIONS


The vicious beatings disrupted what had promised to be a routine, though hardly boring, Friday night for Bowie County Sheriff Bill Presley.


Since taking office slightly more than a year before, William Hardy Presley, a personable fifty-year-old widower who had served in France during World War I, had grown used to unexpected disturbances of sleep and schedule. He lived in the little town of Nash, a few miles west of Texarkana. His household consisted of his aged mother in her eighties and his teenaged daughter. Presley’s wife and older daughter had died from injuries after a drunken driver had intentionally crashed into the Presley vehicle in 1936; only Presley and his younger daughter had survived.


Unlike the stereotypical tall Texas sheriff, ruddy-faced, usually mild-mannered Presley stood slightly under average height. Though he packed a pistol, he usually kept it on the car seat beside him, not on his hip. He dressed immaculately in a neat business suit and felt hat instead of the ten-gallon version popularized by brawny sheriffs in the movies. Even without a gun at his side, he wasn’t an easy man to confront. Growing up in rough-and-tumble rural Bowie County, he’d had his share of fistfights. As sheriff, however, he’d drawn his gun only once, to tame a husky, crazed drunk.


He hadn’t called it a day yet when the call came late that Friday night. He had just a few deputies for the entire county, so he sped to the scene himself. Although the attack had occurred in the county’s jurisdiction, outside the Texarkana city limits, three city policemen had also answered the call. With a small staff to cover a large county, Presley granted special deputy commissions to city policemen. This enabled them to respond beyond their usual range, particularly in emergencies such as this one.


The sheriff and the policemen checked out what little was known of the Friday night attack, then scoured the area in search of the assailant. Tracking what they believed to be the route of the gunman’s automobile, they traced him to the house to which Mrs. Larey had fled. This suggested that she had narrowly escaped him a second time. From there they followed the tracks eastward to Summerhill Road, another graveled branch north of the city. They found Hollis’s trousers about a hundred yards from the scene of the attack.


The culprit had made a clean getaway. Presley and the policemen drove downtown to interview the victims. Both were still at the hospital, where Hollis would remain for weeks.


Hollis was barely conscious and in critical condition, hovering between life and death, his skull fractured in three places. There was no hope of talking with him. Mrs. Larey was being treated in the emergency room when the officers arrived. She had deep cuts on her head. The doctor used eight stitches to close the wounds. She was in a state of severe emotional distress. She just wanted to go home.


Presley and his deputy Frank Riley gently questioned her at the hospital. What, exactly, had happened?


In a semi-hysterical condition, her mind jumped about. She worried about Hollis. Was he going to survive? She did the best she could to describe the experience.


The stranger had driven up and ordered them out of the car, she said. He told Hollis to remove his trousers, after which he bludgeoned Hollis in the head with a heavy blunt object. Then he turned to her.


Who was he? What did he look like? Did you know him? Did Hollis know him? Had she ever seen him before? What kind of gun did he have?


“I don’t know,” she said. “I never saw or heard him before. I’d never forget that voice, how mean it was. He had on a white mask. It had cut-out places for his eyes and mouth.”


She felt certain he was a Negro, of light complexion. This was based partially on her interpretation of the way he talked.


Clearly she was not in the best frame of mind to be interrogated. The sheriff drove her home to East Hooks Courts, still in a mild state of shock. He’d question her again when she regained her equilibrium.


Hollis, in a coma, was in no position to corroborate, refute, or add to what she said. The impression from her statement left the focus on a black man with a sadistic streak who had tried to rob them—and wore a mask. The mask became a sensational part of the front-page story in the Daily News, the following afternoon with an eight-column headline.


MASKED MAN BEATS TEXARKANIAN AND GIRL


The report named Hollis as a victim, identifying him as an insurance man and noting his residence, while identifying Mrs. Larey only as his “19-year-old girl companion.” The newspaper didn’t use her name until later. On Sunday morning the Gazette ran a one-column page-one report that essentially rehashed the afternoon newspaper’s story. The story didn’t fade for days.


Upon reflection and further questioning, officers grew uncertain about the accuracy of her description, vague though it was. Considering the locale of the attack and the type of crime, it didn’t fit the pattern of a black criminal, as attackers such as these tend to “hunt” within their own ethnic groups. They considered part of her statement open to question, or at least incomplete. And the mask: the more officers thought about it, the more they wondered. The main reason for wearing a mask would be to hide his features so he wouldn’t be identified. In the dark that seemed unlikely. Darkness would have shielded a black man even more. So why had he worn a mask? And a white mask, no less? Did he believe they were someone else? Did mistaken identity explain the beatings? And how, in the dark, was she even able to see a mask? One deputy raised the possibility that she, and perhaps Hollis, actually knew the man and out of fear claimed he had worn a mask, an effort to prevent retaliation.


As the days wore on, this possibility gained strength. Both victims were married, the sheriff learned, but not to each other. She explained she was estranged from her husband and that, as far as she knew, he was in college in Arkansas. They were in process of obtaining a divorce by mutual agreement. Was the attacker a boyfriend? Absolutely not!


The next day, officers interviewed her again. She could only reiterate what she had told them previously. Her husband’s alibi, readily checked, held firm. So the jilted-lover hunch was now off the table.


The nightmarish experience dominated her days and nights. In her dreams she saw the blurred image of a vicious man almost every time she fell asleep.


She insisted, though, that she could identify him by his snarling voice.


“I’ll never forget that voice, as long as I live,” she said. “It rings always in my ears.”


Two days after the incident, her fears intensified when, unrelated to the beating, a house fire in a small frame building in Hooks, close enough to see and smell the smoke and flames, burned a woman to death. The sirens that responded, the general commotion, and the subsequent reports and rumors all became another hideous reminder that death, accidental or otherwise, lurked in unexpected places, even near at hand. A few days later a two-car crash on a curve on Highway 67 West, eight miles out in the rural community of Red Springs, injured seven motorists from New York and Tennessee; one died the next day. The traffic casualties were names in the newspaper, from other regions, on another highway, but the home fire in Hooks was one witnessed and lamented by the entire little town, adding to the painful emotions of the attack.


Meanwhile, the question remained whether Hollis would survive. Officers learned from his brothers, however, that he also was in the process of obtaining a divorce, which might come through almost any day. They assured officers that they knew of no one who would want to do harm to him, and that Hollis’s divorce was mutually desired by both parties.


The viciousness of the attack suggested a vengeful nature, which guided officers into a theory that someone had sought to get even. But they could uncover no one bearing a grudge against Hollis or likely to beat up either of them. Still, officers refused to shake the feeling that an angry suitor had been involved.


Hollis, unconscious and in critical condition, spent days in the hospital before he slowly began to improve. Barely conscious when he arrived at the hospital, he later recalled, the last thing he had heard before slipping into a weeklong coma was the sound of surgical scissors snipping off his blood-clotted hair, preparing him for the operating room.


For many days, it seemed doubtful that he would live. His family gathered at his bedside. His encounter with the stranger replayed over and over in his mind. Although he’d been raised in a Baptist atmosphere where one took care with one’s language, his parents and brothers heard him repeatedly vow, “You sonofabitch, I’ll get you if it takes me twenty years!” His body reacted as if he was struggling with the gunman while lying in the hospital bed. Periodically a family member or friend would have to help hospital attendants restrain him. He flailed about, at times punching one of his brothers in the jaw, throwing the other one over the foot of the bed. He kept reliving his close brush with death.


Sheriff Presley arranged for a round-the-clock guard at Hollis’s hospital room. Whoever the criminal was, Hollis was an eyewitness and the fear that the gunman might try to eliminate him was a reasonable one. The sheriff remembered, from 1942, when his predecessor had failed to mount a guard on Willie Vinson’s hospital room, enabling lynchers to spirit the dying black man away with impunity. Protection from further harm was paramount. Hollis’s physician wouldn’t allow lawmen to interrogate him just yet, citing his fragile condition.


When he came out of the coma, Hollis’s nightmare lived on. He would fall asleep and wake in a cold sweat. He would see, vaguely outlined, a monster standing over him as he lay on the ground. His helplessness terrified him.


Fifteen days after the beating, the hospital released him. He was taken home in an ambulance. Afterward, at his apartment, Hollis talked to investigators for the first time. Who was the man? Had you ever seen him before? What did he look like? Did Mrs. Larey recognize him? Do you know why he attacked you? Tell us what he did and said. Describe him.


Hollis did the best he could. No, he did not know him. He’d never seen him before, to his knowledge. Mary Jeanne hadn’t known him either. It had just happened out of the blue—or, more accurately, out of the dark.


Hollis focused on the assailant’s behavior. The man was tall and mean. His words were vile, bristling with anger and projecting violence that immediately followed. Then Hollis summarized his characterization of the gunman.


“I think he is a young white man, not over thirty years old, and he’s desperate.”


“What else did you see? Anything about his face?”


“No, I don’t know what he looked like.”


“Did he have anything on his face or head?”


“No, I didn’t see anything.”


“He wear a mask?”


“I didn’t see any.” He was willing to accept his date’s version of a mask, though.


It wasn’t much, really, to go on, except that two essential points of his statement conflicted with the teenaged woman’s assessment, adding a serious complication. The gunman was a Negro, she had insisted, and he wore a white mask over his head with holes cut out for his eyes and mouth. Hollis hadn’t seen a mask of any kind and was certain that he was a white man. Most of all, he was sure about the man’s mindset.


“That man’s dangerous,” he said. “He’s a potential murderer. The next one he gets ahold of will be killed. Evidently he thought he killed me that night. I know he was crazy. The crazy things he said. I know his mind was warped.”


The discrepancies in the two eyewitness reports created a problem from the beginning. Instead of narrowing down a search for suspects, it opened it up to almost anyone: young and uncouth—and vicious. In Texarkana at the time, this description would apply to hundreds of men.


Some lawmen suspected one or both victims—especially the girl—of concealing the identity of the gunman. Officers didn’t believe a black man had attacked them, thus siding with Hollis on that point. And if Hollis hadn’t seen a mask, why would she claim the man wore one? They acknowledged that in a time of panic a strong-beamed flashlight in your eyes might create the illusion of a hood, or a halo, from the reflection. But the concept gained little support. Instead officers began to insist that she knew her attacker and was protecting him, perhaps out of fear, by claiming he was black and wore a mask.


On a Wednesday afternoon in March, while Hollis lay in bed at home four weeks after the episode, Texas Ranger Stewart Stanley visited him. He followed up on the earlier questioning by Presley and Riley. The line of questioning soon ruffled Hollis.


“Who would try to do this kind of thing to you?” he was asked. “Which of your enemies would do it?”


“I don’t have any enemies!” Hollis shot back. “I don’t know anybody who’d do this to me.”


“Are you sure you don’t know him? Not covering up for him?”


This provoked Hollis even more.


“Are you kidding? After what I’ve gone through, if it was my grandmother I’d want to see her hang! I’m trying to tell you that this man is brutal. He’s a potential killer. If you don’t find him, the next thing you know he’s going to kill someone!”


This interview, Hollis remembered, occurred on Wednesday, March 20, nearly a month after the incident.


What was the underlying motive? The intruder had brutalized Hollis before demanding money. He gained no more than twenty dollars from Hollis’s wallet. He’d abused the girl but hadn’t tried to rape her. Was it an act of jealousy or revenge? No one could say. Was it a case of mistaken identity? Hollis thought so. The case puzzled the lawmen and everyone else.


Both victims agreed their attacker was sadistic and that he was tall, close to six feet. In those hectic moments in the dark with a raging madman, it was understandable that their memories of the horror wouldn’t mesh exactly, and there was no way to reconcile their differing impressions of the man’s race and whether he wore a mask or not.


They agreed, emphatically, however, that he was capable of anything.


The experience unnerved the young woman so deeply that she fled Texarkana, moving to Frederick, Oklahoma, to live with an aunt and uncle. Mary Jeanne was afraid the man would pursue her and kill her. Even there, safe in a secure small town in another state, she feared being alone or going upstairs by herself.


Although no one mentioned it then or later, the gunman’s abuse of his female victim followed the pattern of the fictional character Popeye, a small-time crook in William Faulkner’s horrific 1931 novel, Sanctuary. In one scene Popeye violates the teenaged female character Temple Drake with a corncob. Popeye, as drawn by Faulkner, was a vicious thug, but impotent. Did this sexual abuse in Texarkana suggest the perpetrator was impotent? Or was there another reason he used the gun barrel in such a bizarre and sexually sadistic manner?


Little progress was made in the case. Suspects were cleared as soon as they were thoroughly checked out. The teenaged woman’s husband was out of the Navy and in college eighty miles away, apparently nursing no resentment over their break-up. As perfect an alibi as one might imagine.


On March 12 Hollis, while still in the hospital, was granted a divorce from his wife Louise in Union County, Arkansas, where he had filed his complaint in early February.


Even after he was released from the hospital Hollis still had a long recuperation ahead of him. One of his scars was easily discerned, on the left side of his forehead going into the hairline; his hair, growing back, covered the rest of his scars. His physician ordered him not to go back to work for six months. Like his companion of that night, he continued to feel uncomfortable even away from the scene. He moved to Shreveport, Louisiana, seventy-five miles to the south.


“You can’t forget a thing like that,” he said. “Last night in Shreveport, I was riding in a car with a friend. We stopped to wait on a red traffic light. A friend came running up and jumped on the running board, and I began shaking.”


He was still recuperating from his injuries. His voice was weak and low as he talked to a reporter. His physician told him it would be “some time” before he would be completely well.


On April 22—two months to the day after the beatings—Mary Jeanne’s husband was granted an uncontested divorce in district court in Bowie County, Texas. Subsequently Hollis traveled to Frederick, Oklahoma, where Mary Jeanne was living. He spent a week there. They reviewed their night of terror and discussed the future. Hollis was interested in a more permanent relationship. It was obvious, however, that he was far from recovered. Even his behavior reflected as much. If he’d had marriage in mind when he made the trip, the week in Frederick ended the dream. There was simply too much residual trauma from that fateful night to ever hope to salvage a relationship.


In early May, Hollis took a job as a clerk at Arkansas Natural Gas in Shreveport. His Texarkana experience kept him, literally, gun-shy for a long time. The next year in Shreveport, where he met a young woman who was to become his second wife, Addie Nell “Snookie” Thompson, he took her out to a wooded area where they were going target practicing with a rifle. He wanted to teach her how to shoot, as commonly practiced in the region, and it helped him maintain his own skill, should he need it. As they were walking toward the woods, they heard gunshots in the distance. Without a word, Hollis reacted as if he were alone, turning immediately and sprinting back to his parked car. She ran after him. He was already inside and turning the key before she caught up with him and got into the car as it was rolling. He’d never told her about the Texarkana nightmare etched indelibly in his psyche.


Hollis’s brother Bob was more fortunate. He had not only avoided the attack by turning in early that fateful Friday night, he got along so well with his date that they married later the same year, a union that lasted until his death.


“Persons of interest”—to use a later term—were in short supply in the months following the attack. The conflicting impressions compounded the case. Despite its not being unusual for witnesses to offer differing accounts of an attacker, lawmen still believed that one or both of these two knew their assailant.


Investigators gave little or no thought to another element that may have explained why a nineteen-year-old woman, in a desperate moment of high-tension fear, had mistakenly identified the assailant as black. Mary Jeanne had been a young girl when Vinson, a black man, had been lynched in Texarkana several years earlier. The precipitating event had been the seizing of a white woman from her mobile home near Hooks. Though the woman was not injured and the lynched black man was apparently innocent, there was much talk of the event in Hooks. The emotional tide may have literally colored her perceptions of the February incident. If she had expected a black perpetrator, based on stories she’d heard, her mind would have been geared in that direction.


Too much else was going on for the public to brood over the beatings. Veterans, like AAF Sergeant George Reese and Seaman First Class Bob Mundella, a Gazette reporter, returned home to wide welcome. Professionals resumed interrupted careers. One man met his Australian wife’s train and saw their months-old son for the first time. Some enrolled in two-year Texarkana College or a larger college elsewhere. The unemployed ranks reached 9,707, a huge number. Ex-GIs searched for jobs or joined the 52-20 Club to draw twenty dollars a week for a year or until they found suitable work.


Emblematic of the changing times, peace had ended War Savings Time. Darkness now came an hour earlier than during the war. Months later the USO Club on the Texas side shut down. (The Negro USO Club of that Jim Crow era operated a few blocks away.) In a seamless transition, the local Veterans of Foreign Wars chapter snapped up the lease on the USO building. The management changed; the dance continued.


Meanwhile, crime maintained its lively pace. A purse thief netted $312. Three men forced an out-of-town man into their car downtown, drove him out five miles, and robbed him of a wrist watch, pocket knife, and fifteen dollars. Safecrackers hit the New Boston, Texas, school for $500 and tried to do the same at Hooks. In other cases, men wanted elsewhere were arrested: an ex-convict in Hooks for two murders in Iowa, a Louisiana man possessing a cache of dynamite and two pistols.


The traffic and accident toll grew: six-year-old Charles Elvey Whitlock killed by a car; two veterans dead in a Highway 82 crash; just outside the city, a wagon’s driver injured. A farmhouse fire near Redwater, in Texas, claimed the lives of a young couple and their year-old child.


Yet optimism peeked through. Bridal showers, like the one for Jacqueline Hickerson at the fashionable Hotel Grim, dominated the society pages. At the post office downtown, mail-order baby chicks, cheeping in their boxes while awaiting delivery, heralded the advent of spring.


Even as uncertainty fueled instability, life flowed on. It would take a heavy jolt, indeed, to shake the town and plunge every individual into panic. Until 1946, no event had quite achieved that questionable distinction. The savage Hollis-Larey beatings didn’t come close.





CHAPTER 3



DOUBLE DEATH IN A CAR


In a word, “rambunctious” aptly described Texarkana in 1946. It had a reputation as a rough little town. Yet if you were prudent in what you did and where you went, by all odds you would be safe. Stay out of dives. Avoid overindulging in alcohol and shun those who did. Beware of contentious situations. Choose your company carefully. In other words, mind your own business, much as you would anywhere else, and, chances were, you’d live a long and injury-free life.


The horrible O’Dwyer murder in 1940 in her bed and the vicious lynching of Willie Vinson were memorable exceptions. Most residents recognized and kept away from the relatively few danger zones. Children were free to roam downtown and in their neighborhoods. Boys as young as ten rode bicycles to Spring Lake Park, miles north of the city, or deep into the countryside without fear.


It was a small town of vibrant neighborhoods. Billie Hargis House remembered how, as a girl of twelve, she played outside with her friends, at times as late as ten o’clock at night, with no anxiety or incidents.


In many ways it was an idyllic, wholesome place to grow up. Among the most reliably safe places around Texarkana were its movie theaters and its sequestered off-road parking spots where young couples could cuddle, pet, or quietly chat in as private a setting as was likely to be found outside of a private home or motel room. The vicious assault upon Jimmy Hollis and Mary Jeanne Larey was dismissed by most as a rarity, probably sparked by jealousy or some weird desire for revenge, unlikely to recur.


With the world in flux, the movies continued to draw with films like the war drama They Were Expendable vying with more sinister titles like The Last Ride (“Lives Are Cheap by Their Standards”).


They were both young with their lives before them, he a veteran, she a recent high school graduate now working at a defense plant.


Twenty-nine-year-old Richard Lanier Griffin, relieved that he had gotten through the war alive and unwounded, had served in the Navy’s Construction Battalions, or SeaBees, in the South Pacific. Griffin, a handsome man with dark auburn hair and freckles, was the oldest boy of a Cass County, Texas, farm family of five children—two girls, three boys. His father had served as the county’s tax collector before resigning to go back to farming. They all knew, first hand, hard work and how difficult times were during the Great Depression. They plowed, chopped cotton in the spring, picked it in the summer and fall. Richard and his brother Welborn never made more than 75 cents for a twelve-hour day for wages except when they picked cotton, which paid by weight and thus by how much you picked. Somehow the family managed. Everyone worked all week and on Sunday attended, virtually without fail, Methodist church services. Norman Rockwell could have used them as models to paint a Saturday Evening Post cover celebrating salt-of-the-earth rural America.


Richard’s two brothers also served in World War II. David, the youngest, joined the peacetime Army in 1940, eventually participating in the European invasion soon after D-Day. Richard, as a carpenter and cabinet-maker, worked for a contractor before the war. After Pearl Harbor he went with the contractor to Hawaii, repairing damage sustained during the Japanese attack, as well as new construction for wartime needs. Some of his work was on one of the bombed ships at Pearl Harbor. He returned from Hawaii, still single and eminently eligible for the draft. He joined the Navy and, because of his experience, was welcomed into the SeaBees. His brother Welborn was conscripted. By early 1942 all three were in uniform.


The family suffered two tragedies before the war was over. In April 1941, months before the war, a sailor brother-in-law, who was married to Richard’s older sister Hattie Merle, was fatally shot in an accident aboard ship at Pearl Harbor. Then in 1943, in the middle of the war, their father died. Welborn and David attended the funeral on emergency furloughs. Richard, by then in the Pacific theater building bases and landing strips for Marines and soldiers as they seized island after island from the entrenched Japanese, was unable to go home.


After the father’s death, their mother, Bernice Griffin, moved in with her daughter Eleanor, who worked at Lone Star Army Ammunition Plant west of Texarkana. They lived in Robison Courts, wartime housing on the western edge of Texarkana, near the bus line for Eleanor. After the war, David lived with them while he looked for work.


Following his discharge Richard returned to his civilian work, carpentry. He joined his mother and two siblings at the Texarkana apartment but spent most of his time in Cass County, where he worked on a long-term project. Because of the distance, close to forty miles, he usually went to Texarkana only on weekends.


In February 1946, Richard began dating Polly Ann Moore, also from Cass County. He hadn’t known her when he went off to war. She had been a little girl. When he returned, she had grown up and was an attractive young woman, brown-haired, blue-eyed. He was twenty-nine; she, only seventeen. In those days, the twelve-year difference in age didn’t generate a great deal of conversation. She was an emotionally mature young woman.


Polly and her younger brother Mark were reared by their mother, Lizzie, after their father, George Moore, died of a stroke when Polly was eight. Polly attended Atlanta (Texas) High School for her last two years, graduating in 1945 at age sixteen. Before the war was over in the Pacific, she took a job at Red River Ordnance Depot as a checker of ammunition and other materiel being loaded onto trucks, helping maintain records of the inventory. With the war soon over, the ammunition was stored in igloos.


The family’s situation created a transportation crisis for Polly. No one nearby, with whom she could ride, worked at the defense plant. A solution came through her mother’s cousin. Ardella Campbell lived in Texarkana, just a few steps off State Line on the Texas side. She had an extra room that she rented to Polly. Ardella worked nights as a telephone operator. Polly could take the city bus downtown and catch another bus to the defense plant.


The arrangement worked well. Ardella and her mother soon grew fond of their new roomer. Polly was quiet and easy to like.


The little family kept in touch. About once a month Lizzie and her son would ride the bus from Douglassville, or Polly would take the bus there, where someone would meet her and take her the rest of the way home.


On Saturday, March 23, Texas-side police recovered a 1940 Hudson sedan found abandoned in Robison Courts, not far from where the Griffin family lived. It had been stolen ten days earlier at another location. For four years the public had to make do with prewar models. Waiting lists for new cars were long. Car thefts had become common. A columnist in the weekly Two States Press summed it up. “Suggested Slogan: There’s an auto in your future—if you live long enough.” Or if you were inclined to steal. If you owned a car, no matter how old, you were advised to keep a close eye on it.


Like millions of other veterans, Richard Griffin yearned for a normal life. He had located a four-door 1941 Oldsmobile sedan in Shreveport. It was the best he could do. The Olds had been used as a taxicab during the war, sustaining considerable wear and tear. Practically worn out, it nonetheless provided transportation at a time when a new car was out of the question.


Unlike Richard, Polly had known little of life outside her circumscribed area. She’d turned seventeen a few months earlier. Like others in her family, she was quiet, had been a good student with good manners, serious, wholesome—the kind of young woman who would impress a man like Richard, despite their difference in age. Polly’s dating was confined to spending time with Richard. Several weeks into March, they had been “going together” for six weeks.


On Saturday evening, March 23, Richard drove to 1215 Magnolia and picked up Polly. They were going to dinner at the popular Canary Cottage, then to a movie. The Canary Cottage was an all-night restaurant specializing in steak and chicken, situated at the edge of the city limits on West Seventh. A very short distance further, the Texas & Pacific railroad track crossed the street. Past that, near Waggoner Creek, the city-limit sign marked the beginning of the rural environs “out in the country.” West Seventh Street was the Texas-side route of U.S. Highway 67 as it wound through the city, conveying motorists to Dallas and beyond. A string of cafés, some merely beer joints, dotted the route.


Richard and Polly met Richard’s unmarried sister Eleanor and her boyfriend Jesse A. Proctor at the restaurant and enjoyed a leisurely, pleasant supper. Afterward, the two couples went their separate ways. Richard drove Polly back to her Magnolia Street address. She had spilled something on her blouse, and she went to her room to change. Later they headed to the midnight movie at the Paramount Theater downtown. SNAFU was a 1945 Columbia comedy just making its way to Texarkana.


It had been a pleasantly cool day, the temperature never moving out of the sixties. After the movie, popcorn and all, they went to a West Seventh café for an after-movie snack, leaving around two A.M. Before taking Polly home, Richard drove out West Seventh, less than a half-mile past the city limits near the Stockman’s Cafe, where he turned south onto a dirt road. About fifty yards off the highway he stopped at a parking area in a low marshy spot, the ditch nearby banked by willows. Behind the willows a dense stand of trees and bushes made the off-road stretch practically impenetrable. Across the road was a gravel pit, its gate locked. In the darkness, the road was as secluded as anyone could want. Perfect privacy. No one around for blocks. He killed the engine.


After a short while another car drove up and parked. More lovers, no doubt. Then a man stealthily walked up, unnoticed, his movements cloaked by darkness. Unaware of the intruder’s presence, Richard and Polly continued their conversation. Suddenly the shadowy figure was upon them. Brandishing a handgun, he ordered Griffin to drop his trousers. Griffin did so. They fell to his ankles.


We cannot be certain exactly what happened next. Eventually the gunman shot both Richard and Polly, first restricting Richard’s movement by forcing him to drop his trousers and then, inside the car, shooting him twice in the back of the head, spattering blood all over the inside of the car and, probably, onto himself. He shot Polly twice outside the car on a blanket. Her blood soaked the blanket and the ground beneath it. Outwardly there was no sign of a beating or of rape.


His night’s atrocity completed, the killer moved Polly’s body into the car with her body slumped in a sitting position while Richard’s body leaned forward from the back seat and on his face, his trousers to his ankles. In the darkness there was no way the murders would be noticed from the highway. By the time the moon, waning into the last quarter, sluggishly appeared over the trees high enough to cast any light on the tragic scene, the murderer had long escaped.


There had been light rain during the day. In a few hours, more rain patted the dirt in the lane and dampened the trees and vegetation, obscuring any tracks the killer might have left.


Daylight, Sunday morning, broke hours later.


Texarkanians had to fish their Sunday Gazettes off wet lawns. There was plenty to read about. The Cold War hadn’t yet been officially declared, but sparks were beginning to appear. Baseball, another interrupted pleasure, was poised to return. “Gabby” Lusk looked forward to playing for and managing the city’s professional team, the Texarkana Bears.


The Tarzan strip in the Gazette’s comics was to become of more than casual interest as the day wore on. The day’s particular episode, “Dance of the Dum-Dum,” involved the Apeman’s violent encounter with a panther. At the end of the strip, a preview teaser heralded, as if a foreshadowing: Next Week: Trail of Blood.





CHAPTER 4



A BAFFLING CASE


While residents sipped coffee and read their newspapers, there was nothing at the lovers’ lane to alert the casual observer who might pass and glance at Richard Griffin’s parked Oldsmobile in the early-morning light. The road saw little traffic, even less on a quiet Sunday morning. But at nine o’clock, a passing motorist glanced at the car and wondered why it was there at that time of day. There appeared to be two persons inside. There was something unnatural about it. His suspicions rose. On closer inspection, he grew alarmed and concluded that something worth reporting had happened. As soon as he reached a telephone he called the police.


City policemen immediately sped to the scene. The police dispatcher relayed the message to the Bowie County sheriff’s office.


War veterans Byron Brower, Jr., and his brother-in-law Edward Brettel with his young son Eddie set out that morning to fetch a Sunday newspaper and some kerosene. They drove to a Texaco station on Highway 67 just west of the Texarkana city limits. They picked up a newspaper and purchased the kerosene. Then their eyes followed a string of automobiles down by the little dirt road that branched off the highway.


“Wonder what’s going on there,” Brower said. They turned off the highway and parked behind a long row of cars. They got out to take a closer look. Policemen and curious observers crowded around a car at the end of the row. Immediately they realized that it was a crime scene. There was no police line. They walked within eight feet of the car on which all eyes were focused. They saw two bodies in an Oldsmobile. A man’s body lay between the seats, his face down. A woman was slumped over in the front seat on the passenger side. Brower had only a side view of her face, but could see she had turned dark.


It was Sunday morning in a small city. The dispatcher directed a squad car to the new crime scene before the sheriff or his deputies could be alerted. The sheriff’s Texarkana office was upstairs at 214½ Main over a popular café, John’s Place, in the heart of downtown; the city police headquarters and city jail lay a block away.


By time Sheriff Bill Presley arrived, a “very large” crowd had assembled. The milling throng and light showers throughout the morning obliterated any tracks in the dirt around the car. Very few clues were left. About twenty feet from the car, a section of the ground was saturated with dried blood, indicating that one of the victims—Polly Moore, it was later decided—had been murdered outside, and Griffin had been shot inside the car. Griffin was found on his knees behind the front seat, his trousers down to his ankles, his head resting on his hands. She was found sprawled in the front.


The Oldsmobile was spotted throughout with blood. Blood had seeped through the bottom of the car’s door and onto the running board, where it had congealed. Griffin’s trouser pockets were turned inside out, as if to suggest robbery. Judging from the amount of blood, both inside and outside the car, the killer could hardly have avoided getting blood all over himself as well.


The presence of police cars and other automobiles piqued the curiosity of others who turned off the highway to see what was going on. It became a major chore to keep people away.


Who were the victims? Griffin’s identification was readily established. His wallet contained his driver’s license. The young woman’s purse contained no identification. But she wore an Atlanta High School Class of 1945 ring, which narrowed the search. Inside the ring were initials: PAM. Presley called Homer Carter, city marshal of Atlanta in the next county. Contacting Atlanta school officials, Carter learned the ring apparently belonged to Polly Ann Moore, who had graduated the year before. He passed on the finding to Bowie County. Presley and others began backtracking the couple’s activities the night of their deaths, learning that they’d eaten supper at the Canary Cottage with Griffin’s sister and her boyfriend.


The newspaper soon learned of the deaths. A reporter immediately asked, “Was this a murder and suicide?”


“No, definitely not,” replied the sheriff. “Both were shot in the back of their heads. It’s a double murder. We’re still looking for clues and leads. We’ve found no weapon.”


But there was so little to go on.


The sheriff immediately launched an area-wide investigation. He notified both Texas and Arkansas-side lawmen at city, county, and state levels, along with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the Texas Department of Public Safety, and the Texas Rangers. The Rangers promised to dispatch a man.


By the end of the day, the only certainty was that two persons had been murdered. What the rain hadn’t washed away, officers and gawkers had destroyed by plodding around the scene. After the bodies were taken away, the Oldsmobile remained at the site for hours until moved to the Arkansas-side police station, where a more thorough fingerprint examination could be undertaken.


Polly Moore’s immediate family didn’t learn the dismal news until her school ring had been identified. Lizzie Moore’s telephone was on a large party line in the rural community. Her ring was one long and two shorts—she didn’t have to wait long to know whether a call was for her or not.


The caller identified himself as the Cass County sheriff.


“Mrs. Moore, they’ve found two bodies over in Texarkana. A man and a young woman. We think she’s your daughter Polly.”


Lizzie Moore, shocked by the words, maintained her composure. She’d never been an emotional person.


“Why? What happened?”


“They were shot to death, in a car. The girl was wearing an Atlanta High School class ring with the initials PAM. The school thinks it belongs to your daughter. They would like for you to go to Texarkana and verify this.”


It was the Moore family’s introduction to the tragic news. Lizzie Moore owned an old-model automobile that wasn’t reliable. She called a neighbor. The neighbors’ son-in-law drove Lizzie and her son Mark to Texarkana, to the funeral home where she was shown the girl’s body. It was, indeed, Polly.


Mark Moore was a fourteen-year-old sophomore in high school. Dealing with adversity, throughout the Depression, had steeled the family for the unexpected. Polly’s death was a loss they would never get over, but they would deal with it without breaking down. After they finished their business in Texarkana, they left for Atlanta to make funeral arrangements. They would remain in Cass County, where the funeral would be.


Ardella Campbell, in whose home Polly roomed, had worked her regular shift as a telephone operator the night before and wasn’t immediately aware that Polly wasn’t sleeping in her room. She and her mother soon learned that Polly wasn’t home. Ardella felt a sense of responsibility for her young cousin’s safety and grew agitated. This isn’t like Polly. What has happened? She wasn’t long in learning that the worst had happened.


Lizzie Moore called from Cass County before leaving for Texarkana.


Ardella’s best friend, Maurice Richardson, lived right around the corner. Maurice’s husband worked nights as a switchman for the railroad. That Sunday morning he had arrived home and gone directly to bed. Ardella, crying on the phone, called her friend Maurice. Polly had been found dead. She had been killed. Ardella choked out the news between sobs.


Ardella didn’t own a car. The Richardsons had an old Chevrolet.


“Will you take me out there where they found the body?” Ardella asked.


The two women herded the four children—Maurice’s two daughters and a son, plus Ardella’s daughter—into the Richardsons’ car and drove to the crime scene.


The experience burned into the memory of Maurice’s daughter Patti, the oldest of the children.


“It was out in the country. There were trees in the background, but up front was just a great big open field. It looked like a lot of cars had been along there, a one-lane dirt road. A dirt trail only went so far into the field. It was where people had been driving in there and parking, and that’s what Richard and Polly did. The car was near the woods. They drove in there and they were parked, and. . . .


“Well, when we drove up there, there were cars all the way up from where Richard Griffin’s car was parked. It was still there. And Mother just pulled right off of [Highway] 67 and in behind that long line of cars. She and Ardella got out and walked down there. They would not let any of us children go—at all. Mother said, ‘Don’t you dare get out of the car!’ I did get out of the car, though. I was gonna see what I could see. I saw the car, with people gathered around. I was in the second grade, and so I remember that it was a real tearful thing, and Ardella was very, very upset.


“Mother and Ardella were gone a long time. When they got back to the car where I was keeping my brother and sister and Ardella’s daughter, they were grim-faced and tearful—visibly shaken.”


The bodies had been removed by then.


“But the car was still there. And the blood was just everywhere. I remember them talking about a great big pool of blood right in front of the car.”


The crowd had thinned out by the time Isaac Rounsavall and his son Ray drove unexpectedly upon the murder site. Rounsavall was driving to Highway 67 via the crooked unpaved connections between Highways 59 and 67. The boy saw a half-dozen or so people there, with policemen stationed at the highway to keep others out.


The elder Rounsavall saw Sheriff Presley and got out of the car and walked over to him. Young Ray took in the scene as a curious boy would. The bodies had been moved; the death car remained by the ditch, headed south, framed by rampant honeysuckle. Blood was all over the inside of the car.


Ray watched a young man with a baby girl cradled in his arm, walking about, peering at the ground and all around. About fifty feet from the car, the man suddenly stopped, bent over, the little girl still in the crook of his left arm, and picked up a set of keys. Ray had heard the men say there’d been no keys in the ignition of the Oldsmobile. The man handed the keys to Presley. With a crowd milling around earlier, the officers had not seen the keys, trampled into the soft wet earth by numerous feet.


Later James and Sandy King, en route to one of the few stores open on Sunday, arrived at the intersection of Robinson Road and Highway 67 West. They were in a truck that King drove for a wrecking business. At the highway they saw a crowd milling around on the dirt road across the highway. He turned and passed by a deputy sheriff he recognized. The deputy, Frank Riley, was directing traffic. Towing damaged cars was King’s job.


“Is it a wreck?” he hollered.


“No, it’s a murder,” replied the deputy. He motioned at King. “Come on back. We need to move the car over to the Arkansas police station.”


King crossed the highway and backed the wrecker close enough to Griffin’s Oldsmobile to hook it to the winch. He hauled it onto West Seventh Street and eastward. Once the Oldsmobile was set down in the alley by the Arkansas police station, the policemen and King pushed it to a space where the fingerprint specialist could go over it.


When King returned to the wrecker, Sandy, who had remained in the truck, shook her head in wonder.
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